1-1-93

Chief Deputy Clerk

AUG 3 CLERK, SUPREME COURT

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASA CLARA CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION, INC., ETC., ET AL.

Petitioners,

vs.

CASE NO. 79,127

CHARLEY TOPPINO AND SONS, INC.,

Respondent.

CHRISTOPHER H. CHAPIN, ET. AL.,

Petitioners,

vs.

CASE NO. 79,128

CHARLEY TOPPINO AND SONS, INC., ETC.,

Respondent.

PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

SIEGFRIED, KIPNIS, RIVERA, LERNER, DE LA TORRE & MOCARSKI, P.A. 201 Alhambra Circle, Suite 1102 Coral Gables, Florida 33134 Telephone: (305) 442-3334

and

HOLLAND & KNIGHT 1200 Brickell Avenue P.O. Box 015441 Miami, Florida 33131 Telephone: (305) 374-8500

Attorneys for Petitioners

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

A.R. Moyer, Inc. v. Graham, 285 So.2d 397 (Fla. 1973)
Adcor Realty Corp. v. Mellon Stuart Co., 450 F. Supp. 769 (N.D. Ohio 1978)
Adobe Building Centers, Inc. v. Reynolds, 403 So.2d 1033 (Fla. 4th DCA), rev. dismissed, 411 So.2d 380 (1981)
Aetna Life & Casualty Co. v. Therm-O-Disc, Inc., 511 So.2d 992 (Fla. 1987)
AFM Corp. v. Southern Bell Tel. & Tel. Co., 515 So.2d 180 (Fla. 1987)
American Universal Insurance Group v. General Motors Corp., 578 So.2d 451 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) 27
Aronsohn v. Mandara, 484 A.2d 675 (N.J. 1984)
Arvida Corp. v. A.J. Industries, Inc., 370 So.2d 809 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979) 16, 17, 28
Audlane Lumber & Builders Supply, Inc. v. D.E. Britt Associates, Inc., 168 So.2d 333 (Fla. 2d DCA 1964), cert. denied, 173 So.2d 146 (1965)
Barnes v. Mac Brown and Co., 342 N.E.2d 619 (Ind. 1976)
Bay Garden Manor Condominium Association, Inc. v. James D. Marks Associates, Inc., 576 So.2d 744 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991)
Bethlahmy v. Bechtel, 415 P.2d 698 (Idaho 1966)
Biscayne Roofing Co. v. Palmetto Fairway Condominium Association, Inc., 418 So.2d 1109 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982)
Blagg v. Fred Hunt Co., Inc., 612 S.W.2d 321 (Ark. 1981)
Bould v. Touchette, 349 So.2d 1181 (Fla. 1977)

Burger v. Hector, 278 So.2d 636 (Fla. 1st DCA 1973) 30
Butki v. United Services Automobile Association, 274 Cal. Rptr. 909 (Ct. App. 1990)
<pre>Capitol Builders, Inc. v. Shipley, 439 N.E.2d 217 (Ind. Ct. App.), rev'd on other grounds, 455 N.E.2d 1135 (1982)</pre>
Carolina Winds Owners' Association, Inc. v. Joe Harden Builder, Inc., 374 S.E.2d 897 (S.C. Ct. App. 1988), overruled by Kennedy v. Columbia Lumber & Mfg. Co., Inc., 384 S.E.2d 730 (S.C. 1989)
Casa Clara Condominium Ass'n, Inc. v. Charley Toppino & Sons, Inc., 588 So.2d 631 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991)
Cedars of Lebanon Hospital Corp. v. European X-Ray Distributors of America, Inc., 444 So.2d 1068 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984)
Centex Homes Corp. v. Prestressed Systems, Inc., 444 So.2d 66 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983)
Chapin v. Charley Toppino & Sons, Inc., 588 So.2d 634 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991)
<u>City of Greenville v. W.R. Grace & Co.</u> , 827 F.2d 975 (4th Cir. 1987)
City of Manchester v. National Gypsum Co., 637 F. Supp. 646 (D.R.I. 1986)
Coburn v. Lenox Homes, Inc., 378 A.2d 599 (Conn. 1977) 34
Colberg v. Rellinger, 770 P.2d 346 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1988)
Commercial Union Insurance Co. v. R.H. Barto Co., 440 So.2d 383 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), rev. denied, 451 So.2d 850 (1984)
Conklin v. Hurley, 428 So.2d 654 (Fla. 1983) 15, 27, 39
Cosmopolitan Homes, Inc. v. Weller, 663 P.2d 1041 (Colo. 1983)

Council of Co-Owners Atlantis Condominium, Inc.
v. Whiting-Turner Contracting Co.,
517 A.2d 336 (Md. 1986)
<u>Craft v. Wet 'n Wild, Inc.</u> , 489 So.2d 1221 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986)
David v. B & J Holding Corp.,
349 So.2d 676 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977)
DeRoche v. Dame, 430 N.Y.S.2d 390 (App. Div.),
appeal dismissed, 413 N.E.2d 366 (N.Y. 1980)
Drexel Properties, Inc. v. Bay Colony Club
Condominium, Inc., 406 So.2d 515 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981),
rev. denied, 417 So.2d 328 (1982)
To Goldman Town on A/D/G Armonistan Too
E.C. Goldman, Inc. v. A/R/C Associates, Inc., 543 So.2d 1268 (Fla. 5th DCA), rev. denied,
551 So.2d 461 (1989)
,
East River Steamship Corp. v. Transamerica
Delaval, Inc., 476 U.S. 858 (1986) 12, 16, 21, 26, 36
Edward M. Chadbourne, Inc. v. Vaughn,
491 So.2d 551 (Fla. 1986)
Elden v. Simmons, 631 P.2d 739 (Okla. 1981)
Expect N. Hohn Tro. v. Armon Ctool Co.
Ernest W. Hahn, Inc. v. Armco Steel Co., 601 P.2d 152 (Utah 1979)
001 1.2d 132 (0cdir 1373)
First American Title Insurance Co. v.
First Title Service Co. of the Florida Keys,
457 So.2d 467 (Fla. 1984)
First Florida Bank, N.A. v. Max Mitchell & Co.,
558 So.2d 9 (Fla. 1990)
·
First State Sav. Bank v. Albright & Assocs., Inc.,
561 So.2d 1326 (Fla. 5th DCA), <u>rev. denied</u> , 576 So.2d 284 (1990)
576 SO.2d 284 (1990)
Florida Power & Light Co. v. McGraw Edison Co.,
696 F. Supp. 617 (S.D. Fla. 1988), aff'd.
875 F.2d 873 (11th Cir. 1989)
Florida Power & Light Co. v. Westinghouse
Electric Corp., 510 So.2d 899
(Fla. 1987)

Forte Towers South, Inc. v. Hill York Sales Corp., 312 So.2d 512 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975)
Futura Realty v. Lone Star Building Centers,
578 So.2d 363 (Fla. 3d DCA), rev. denied, 591 So.2d 181 (1991)
Gable v. Silver, 258 So.2d 11 (Fla. 4th DCA), adopted, 264 So.2d 418 (1972) 14-16, 18, 27, 30
GAF Corporation v. Zack Co., 445 So.2d 350 (Fla. 3d DCA), rev. denied, 453 So.2d 45 (1984) 40-42
Gupta v. Ritter Homes, Inc., 646 S.W.2d 168 (Tex. 1983)
Hovenden v. Tenbush, 529 S.W.2d 302 (Tex. Ct. App. 1975)
<pre>Interfase, Inc. v. Pioneer Technologies Group, 774 F. Supp. 1355 (M.D. Fla. 1991)</pre>
<pre>Interfase, Inc. v. Pioneer Technologies Group, 774 F. Supp. 1351 (M.D. Fla. 1991)</pre>
<pre>Interstate Securities Corp. v. Hayes Corp., 920 F.2d 769 (11th Cir. 1991)</pre>
<u>Jackson v. L.A.W. Contracting Corp.</u> , 481 So.2d 1290 (Fla. 5th DCA), rev. denied, 492 So.2d 1333, rev. denied, 492 So.2d 1335 (1986)
<u>Jim Walter Homes, Inc. v. Reed,</u> 711 S.W.2d 617 (Tex. 1986)
<u>Johnson v. Davis</u> , 480 So.2d 625 (Fla. 1985) 13, 28, 31
<u>Kennedy v. Columbia Lumber & Mfg. Co., Inc.,</u> 384 S.E.2d 730 (S.C. 1989)
<u>Keyes v. Guy Bailey Homes, Inc.,</u> 439 So.2d 670 (Miss. 1983)
<pre>Kristek v. Catron, 644 P.2d 480 (Kan. Ct. App. 1982)</pre>
Latite Roofing Co., Inc. v. Urbanek, 528 So.2d 1381 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988)

Lee County v. Southern Water Contractors, Inc., 298 So.2d 518 (Fla. 2d DCA 1974)
Lempke v. Dagenais, 547 A.2d 290 (N.H. 1988)
Luttenberger v. Allstate Insurance Co.,
470 N.Y.S.2d 988 (Dist. Ct. 1984)
Maryland Casualty Co. v. Reeder, 270 Cal. Rptr. 719
(Ct. App. 1990)
McDonough v. Whalen, 313 N.E.2d 435 (Mass. 1974) 34
Monsanto Agricultural Products Co. v.
Edenfield, 426 So.2d 574 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982) 2
Moorman v. National Tank Co.,
435 N.E.2d 443 (III. 1982)
Moxley v. Laramie Builders, Inc., 600 P.2d 733 (Wy. 1979)
(,
Navajo Circle, Inc. v. Development Concepts Corp., 373 So.2d 689 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979)
3/3 SO.2d 689 (Fla. 2d DCA 19/9)
Newman v. Tualatin Development Co., Inc.,
597 P.2d 800 (Ore. 1979)
Oates v. Jag, Inc., 333 S.E.2d 222 (N.C. 1985)
Oliver B. Cannon and Son, Inc. v.
Dorr-Oliver, Inc., 312 A.2d 322 (Del. Super. Ct.),
<u>aff'd on other grounds</u> , 336 A.2d 211 (1975)
Palsgraf v. Long Island R. Co.,
162 N.E. 99 (N.Y. 1928)
Parliament Towers Condominium v. Parliament
House Realty, Inc., 377 So.2d 976
(Fla. 4th DCA 1979)
<u>Pearl v. Allied Corp.</u> , 566 F. Supp. 400 (E.D. Pa. 1983) 2
Philadelphia National Bank v. Dow Chemical Co.,
605 F. Supp. 60 (E.D. Pa. 1985)
Redarowicz v. Ohlendorf, 441 N.E.2d 324 (Ill. 1982) 3
Richards v. Powercraft Homes. Inc.
Richards v. Powercraft Homes, Inc.,

Rock v. Allstate Insurance Co., 500 N.Y.S.2d 460 (Ct.Cl. 1985)
Seely v. White Motor Co., 403 P.2d 145 (Cal. 1965) 21
Sensenbrenner v. Rust, Orling & Neale Architects, Inc., 374 S.E.2d 55 (Va. 1988)
<u>Sewell v. Gregory</u> , 371 S.E.2d 82 (W.Va.1988)
<u>Sierra v. Allied Stores Corp.,</u> 538 So.2d 943 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989)
<u>Simmons v. Owens</u> , 363 So.2d 142 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978)
Strathmore Riverside v. Paver Development Corp., 369 So.2d 971 (Fla. 2d DCA), cert. denied, 379 So.2d 210 (1979)
Trustees of Columbia University v. Mitchell/ Giurgola Associates, 492 N.Y.S.2d 371 (App. Div. 1985)
Tucker Construction Co. v. Michigan Mutual Insurance Co., 423 So.2d 525 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982) 29
U.S. Home Corp. v. Geo. W. Kennedy Construction Co., Inc., 565 F. Supp. 67 (N.D. Ill. 1983)
West v. Caterpillar Tractor Company, Inc., 336 So.2d 80 (Fla. 1976)
<u>STATUTES</u>
Construction Lien Law, Chapter 713, Part I, Florida Statutes (1991)
Section 713.01(14), Florida Statutes (1991)
Section 713.01(16), Florida Statutes (1991)
Florida Building Codes Act, Section 553.70, et seq., Florida Statutes (1974)
Section 553.72, Florida Statutes
Section 553.84. Florida Statutes

OTHER AUTHORITIES

1 <u>Miller's Standard Insurance</u> Policies Annotated, 200-218 (1988) 29
Janis K. Cheezem, <u>Economic Loss in the</u> <u>Construction Setting: Toward an</u> <u>Appropriate Definition of "Other Property"</u> , The Construction Lawyer, April 1992, at 21
Comment, Manufacturer's Liability to Remote Purchasers for "Economic Loss" Damages -
Tort or Contract?, 114 U. Pa. L. Rev. 539 (1966)
Jacob Feld, Concrete Failures, 19 Am. Jur. Proof of Facts at 455-545
Michael D. Lieder, <u>Constructing a New Action</u> <u>for Negligent Infliction of Economic Loss: Building</u> <u>on Cardozo and Coase</u> , 66 Wash. L. Rev. 937 (1991) 29
Note, Economic Loss in Products Liability Jurisprudence, 66 Colum. L. Rev. 917 (1966)
Restatement (Second) of Torts § 402A 8, 19, 20
George Anthony Smith, <u>The Continuing Decline of</u> the "Economic Loss Rule" in Construction Litigation, The Construction Lawyer, November 1990, at 1
Steven G.M. Stein, Paul Cottrell and Mark C. Friedlander, <u>A Blueprint for the Duties and Liabilities of Design</u> <u>Professionals</u> , 60 ChiKent L. Rev. 163 (1984)
Miles J. Zaremski and Paul Cottrell, Risk Shifting Devices and Third-Party Practice: The Impact of
Skinner and Alvis, 14 Loy. U. Chi. L.J. 467 (1983) 38

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Introduction

who face the The petitioners¹ are Florida homeowners The party responsible for inevitable destruction of their homes. this certain destruction is the respondent, Charley Toppino and Sons, Inc., ("Toppino"), who mixed and delivered the concrete used in the construction of the homes. The concrete supplied by Toppino was made from an aggregate of rock and sand, mined from the sea and impermissible and dangerously high quantities of laden with The chlorides are causing all of the structural chlorides. components of the homes to be destroyed. Total ruin is only a matter of time.

The petitioners sued Toppino for damages. Their complaints were dismissed as a matter of law. They were denied recovery in warranty because they were said to lack privity with Toppino. They were denied recovery in tort when the trial court, applying the "economic loss" doctrine, held that they had not suffered damage to their property. They were denied recovery under the Florida Building Codes Act, because the court held that Toppino did not have to comply with the Standard Building Code. The District

We will refer to Casa Clara Condominium Association, Inc., 642053 Ontario, Inc., Christopher H. Chapin, Lloyd Roper, Wilburn Johnson, Arnold Blatt and Andrew J. Wolszczak and Patricia Wolszczak collectively as "petitioners" or "homeowners", although separate reference to their cases will be to "Casa Clara", "Ontario", "Chapin", etc., respectively. The Records on Appeal for Casa Clara and Ontario were consolidated below and will be referred to as "Casa Clara/Ontario R. ___". The Records on Appeal for Chapin, Roper, Johnson, Blatt, and Wolszczak were not consolidated below and will therefore be referred to separately, as in "Chapin R.__", "Roper R. __", etc.

² Section 553.70, et. seq., Florida Statutes.

Toppino also contends that purchasers of its concrete disclaimed all warranty rights. See, e.g., disclaimer on the typical Toppino delivery ticket attached to the Second Amended Complaint in Chapin. Chapin R. 381. In related cases still pending in the trial court below, and in the U.S. District Court, Southern District of Florida, several other plaintiffs who purchased directly from

Court of Appeal for the Third District affirmed the dismissals and this Court has granted review of the Third District's decisions in this consolidated case.

Reinforced Concrete⁴

Toppino's concrete was used to build the "reinforced concrete" structural frames of the petitioners' homes. When concrete is used in a structural component of a building (a column, beam, slab or shear wall), it must be reinforced with steel. Concrete itself has poor "tensile" strength -- it can be pulled apart easily. However, it has excellent "compressive" strength -- it will resist being crushed. Because structural components of a building must resist all kinds of forces (including tensile and compressive), the use of concrete and steel together creates a building member that satisfies strength requirements efficiently and economically. Reinforced concrete members are built on site by building wooden forms in the shape of the desired component. Steel reinforcing rods or bars ("rebars") are located within the forms, and concrete is then poured into the form and allowed to harden or "cure."

The Preparation of Concrete

Concrete is prepared by suppliers, like Toppino, by mixing portland cement, water and "aggregate" (sand and pieces of rock of variable sizes). Portland cement is itself a manufactured

Toppino and thus have contractual privity, have been confronted with the disclaimer of warranty, the validity of which has yet to be tested in court.

For a general discussion of concrete, <u>see</u> J. Feld, "Concrete Failures", 19 Am. Jur. Proof of Facts at 455-545.

⁵ Concrete can also be used without reinforcing where little tensile strength is required, e.g. concrete blocks which are used in a non-load bearing fashion, and sidewalks.

product which can be made anywhere, stored for long periods of time, and shipped to distant locations for actual use. When portland cement is combined with water it undergoes a chemical reaction that results in its hardening. The initial hardening occurs quickly, requiring placement of the wet concrete in its final form within approximately 90 minutes from the mixing of its ingredients. Thus, having virtually no "shelf-life," concrete must be mixed either at the building site or in trucks as it is being delivered to the site by local suppliers like Toppino (so-called "ready-mixed" concrete).

Concrete is prepared in varying strengths (usually a function of the proportion of cement in the mix) depending upon the particular load requirements of different parts of the building. Ready-mixed concrete is therefore ordered on a truck-by-truck basis as it is needed on the job.

The manufacture of concrete is, then, inherently a local process, fundamentally different from the manufacture and distribution of other building products. Concrete cannot be maintained in inventory or stored centrally, and it cannot be sold through regional distribution networks. A concrete supplier tailors each batch to the particular job, thus contributing a "service" to the construction process in addition to the "products" (cement, rock and water) that go into its concrete. Functionally

⁶ "Portland" cement derives its name from portland stone, from which better cements were made at the time its inventor, Joseph S. Aspdin, first produced it in 1824. See Feld, op. cit. at 459.

Depending upon the size and nature of the ingredients with which it is combined, the resulting product may be mortar (sand), stucco (sand and lime) or concrete (rock and sand).

Toppino's typical delivery ticket states: "We are not responsible for concrete left in the mixer for over 90 minutes...." Chapin R. 381.

a concrete manufacturer is as much a building subcontractor as a material supplier.

The Problem with Chlorides

Normally concrete and reinforcing steel do not react to one The presence of chlorides in the concrete, however, will cause the reinforcing steel to rust. When steel rusts it expands, and does so with such force that it causes the concrete, with its low tensile strength, to crack and break off chips, scales or slabs, a process called "spalling".9 The steel itself loses its strength by rusting and disintegrating. This problem has been recognized in the concrete industry since at least the early 1950s. The American Concrete Institute ("ACI"), the organization responsible for research and development of standards and specifications for the concrete industry, has placed limits on chlorides in the standards it promulgates to the industry. 10 The ACI standards have been adopted as part of local building codes, including the Standard Building Code and the South Florida Building Code, which govern construction in many parts of Florida. 11

Toppino's Chloride-Filled Concrete

Toppino, the dominant concrete supplier to the middle and lower Florida Keys, dredged most of the aggregate used in its concrete from its ocean pits at Rockland Key, near Key West. It is common knowledge that sea water contains salt and that salts (for example, sodium chloride and calcium chloride) contain chlorides.

⁹ "See, e.g., Preliminary Report of Engineering Analytics, Inc., at Casa Clara/Ontario R. 770-811.

See, e.g., "Building Code Requirements for Reinforced Concrete (ACI 318-77)" at Casa Clara/Ontario R. 603-620.

¹¹ The Standard Building Code has been adopted in Monroe County.

Although Toppino was aware as early as the 1950s of the importance of reducing the content of chloride in concrete, 12 was aware of the development of specifications prohibiting salt in the 1970s, 13 and had in fact been sued for the damage caused to buildings by its excessively salt-contaminated concrete, 14 Toppino continued to supply concrete made from its salt water aggregate through the 1970s and early 1980s, when the petitioners' homes were built.

The inevitable consequence of using Toppino-prepared concrete in the petitioners' homes was the wholesale deterioration of every structural component where the concrete came in contact with The resulting cracking and spalling places reinforcing steel. persons inside their homes and beneath balconies outside at risk of serious personal injury. Moreover, the structural integrity of the buildings is being progressively reduced: the rusted steel continues to lose its tensile strength, the affected concrete continues to lose its compressive strength, and, as more cracks and spalls appear, rainwater can leak into the structure to cause more rust, further accelerating the destruction. According to Engineering Analytics, Inc., describing the destruction of the home in Ontario (which is typical of all cases):

The findings of these visual inspections indicated that structural deterioration in the form of concrete cracking, concrete spalling and corrosion of the reinforcing steel, all of which results in a loss of structural capacity, a loss of effective service life and

See portion of deposition of Donald E. Brassington, August 19, 1987, in prior case, <u>Hawks Nest Condominium</u>, Inc. v. Charlie Toppino & Sons, Inc., Dade County Circuit Court Case No. 82-18593, appearing at Casa Clara/Ontario R. 339-345.

¹³ Id.

See Memorandum of Law in Opposition to Defendant, Charley Toppino and Sons, Inc.'s Motion to Dismiss and attachments thereto at Casa Clara/Ontario R. 307-350.

a hazard to building occupants, was occurring and is continuing to occur in the majority of the structural columns, beams and slabs.

Results of tests conducted by Construction Technology Laboratories indicate high soluble chloride content in the concrete. In the opinion of the writer, the high chloride content is the cause of damage and deterioration throughout the structure. In the presence of oxygen and moisture the high chloride content of the concrete causes corrosion of the embedded reinforcing steel. This corrosion activity results in cracking and spalling of the concrete covering the reinforcing bars and in the deterioration of the reinforcing bars themselves.

Casa Clara/Ontario R. 812.

While concrete is ordinarily tested by contractors for such characteristics as consistency when delivered and compressive strength after hardening, it is rarely tested for the presence of chlorides or other chemical substances. The cracking and spalling due to chlorides in reinforced concrete takes several years to appear. Therefore, the presence of chlorides in concrete is a latent defect that would not be discovered until years after construction of the home.

The Petitioners

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