Deerged

017

OA 1-8-93

FILED OF

# IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

OCT 20 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

CASA CLARA CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION, INC., ET AL.,

Petitioners.

v.

CHARLEY TOPPINO AND SONS, INC., ET AL.

Respondents.

CHRISTOPHER H. CHAPIN, ET AL.,

Petitioners,

v.

CHARLEY TOPPINO AND SONS, INC., ET AL.

Respondents.

CASE NO. 79-127

CASE NO. 79-128

### Respondent's Answer Brief on the Merits

Lynn E. Wagner, Esq.
Florida Bar No. 144515
Richard A. Solomon, Esq.
Florida Bar No. 656739
Cabaniss, Burke & Wagner, P.A.
500 North Magnolia Avenue
P. O. Box 2513
Orlando, Florida 32802-2513
Telephone: (407) 426-1800
Attorneys for Respondent

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

#### **Summary of Argument**

The so-called "economic loss rule" constitutes an integral part of the law of Florida. Florida Power & Light Co. v. Westinghouse Electric Corp., 510 So.2d 899 (Fla. 1987); AFM Corporation v. Southern Bell Telephone and Telegraph Co., 515 So.2d 180 (Fla. 1987). The Florida Power & Light Co. decision (hereinafter "the FP&L decision") adopted both the holding and rationale of the lead United States Supreme Court decision in the field, East River Steamship Corp. v. TransAmerica Delaval, Inc., 476 U.S. 858 (1986), and three earlier decisions of Florida district courts of appeal. The force and reasoning of the FP&L decision, as well as the fact that the decision was written in the context of a certified question from the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals, compel the conclusion that it governs this proceeding. Prior district court decisions on which petitioners rely are inconsistent with FP&L. The attempt of petitioners to differentiate between realty and personal property with respect to the operation of the economic loss rule is not substantiated factually or in the case law.

Toppino and other material suppliers do not provide a "service" to new homeowners, as petitioners suggest. Their role and responsibilities are completely different from professionals or others in the hierarchy of home construction who design, direct the

construction, select the appropriate materials to be supplied, and direct the installation and integration of component products. Toppino is a materialman and supplier of a manufactured product. There is no sound basis to extend tort liability to these classes of remote, non-privity persons.

Petitioners suggest that the removability and separate identity of certain house components makes them "other property" which can be damaged when a defective building component, such as concrete, causes damage. Neither this argument, nor the fact that homeowners do not have available to them a direct warranty from suppliers under the Uniform Commercial Code, justifies a tort cause of action running from homeowners to material suppliers. Neither fact, even if true, brings materialmen into the dominion for which tort causes of action are created — safety concerns related to personal injury and damage to distinct "other" property.

A majority of states adhere to the economic loss rule for the same policy reasons which prompted its adoption in Florida. Many decisions in those states make no exception for an "other property" injury when one building component is claimed to have injured other components or the building itself. E.g., Redarowicz v. Ohlendorf, 441 N.E.2D 324 (Ill. 1982); Sensenbrenner v. Rust, Orling & Neale Architects, Inc., 374 S.E.2d 55 (Va. 1988). The damages which petitioners seek in their seven amended complaints are precisely the forms of economic loss which are embraced within the economic loss rule.

Florida law does not permit a tort duty of responsibility for potential and unrealized physical injuries. The rationale of the Court's decision in FP&L in fact eliminates any such argument. The few Florida decisions which have adopted a consumer-oriented remedial approach to component-caused injuries are inconsistent with Florida's embedded doctrine that speculated damages are not recoverable either in contract or in tort. In any event, the

suggestion that "risk" of injury should be compensated is nothing but a stalking horse for petitioner's effort to recoup purely economic loss — that is, the repair, replacement and loss of value to their homes. To the extent that speculative damages for potential physical injury could be awarded, the effect would be to forestall the injury in fact, and simply to recompense homeowners for their repairs.

Petitioners attempt to justify an exception to the economic loss rule on the ground that homeowners are in an unequal bargaining position with respect to their residences. There is no record support for that thesis. An array of contractual opportunities and protections are available for all homeowners, not the least of which is the presence of an attorney who can advise on risks and their allocation. Were their empirical evidence, the Court would find that homeowners are not a homogeneous body of unsophisticated and hapless real property purchasers in any event. There is evidence in this record that they range from "typical" homeowners like Mr. Johnson, who in this case had successfully sued and settled with the owner/builder of his home before ever instituting suit against Toppino, to the purchasers of condominium units who have been given an abundance of protections by the Florida Legislature.

Based on Latite Roofing Co., Inc. v. Urbanek, 528 So.2d 1381 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988), the petitioners suggest that a tort cause of action at least exists where no contractual remedy is available to a home buyer. The Latite decision does not exactly stand for the proposition which petitioners urge, since it involved the contract remedies which the plaintiff would not have against only one particular defendant, not others. Significantly moreover, six of the seven petitioners in this case have had no difficulty whatsoever seeking other forms of relief in contract from persons with whom they are in privity. Petitioners are in no position to assert hypothetically that an exception to the economic loss rule is needed

when and if a home buyer lacks all contractual remedies. More importantly, the policy basis adopted by this Court in FP&L was to reject the relief-focused result in Latite, in favor of a focus on the nature of the duty being imposed. To adopt a "no other remedy" approach, as petitioners request, is to undermine the policy of encouraging negotiation and bargaining in contracts.

Petitioners contend that Toppino violated section 553.84, Florida Statutes (1991), which provides them with a private cause of action for a violation of local building codes. The district court correctly held that materialmen such as Toppino are expressly excluded from coverage under the statute. The applicable Monroe County Building Code, moreover, also excludes Toppino from its coverage.

#### Argument

#### 1. The Economic Loss Rule Does Bar Petitioners' Tort Claims.

#### (a) Introduction.

Stripped of all theatrical trappings, the outcome which petitioners seek is, plain and simply, the creation in Florida of a new, previously unknown and previously unavailable tort cause of action. Petitioners want the Court to make available to home buyers a newly-minted cause of action in tort against any component supplier or subcontractor or materialman whose product or service is incorporated into a residence. If petitioners and their friends have their way, the repair or replacement of plumbing fixtures, electrical conduits and switches, plaster board, drywall sheeting, nails, brackets, roof trusses, tar paper, and every other form of definable house component (including paint) which at any time becomes affected adversely by another but flawed component of the house, can be

Petitioners position in the case is supported by four friend of the court briefs.

compensated in tort.<sup>20</sup>/ Materialmen and suppliers will become fair game for lawsuits alleging defective manufacture, loss of value, and structural concerns that pose, but have not produced, a threat to life and limb. All unseen structural components of a residence — in petitioners' terms called "latent defects" — can become the basis of a lawsuit which alleges an interaction of one component with other components, a lack of structural integrity, or other verbal outrages which can be paraded before a jury. Punitive damages can and will be sought.

Petitioners are offering the Court a fictional foundation for their new tort lawsuits. They would have the Court announce that homeowners in reality don't buy a finished product called a "home" or a "residence," but rather contract to purchase the joists, concrete foundations, slabs, lintels, electrical conduits, and every other component part which comprises the finished product in which they will reside. They are asking the Court to advance dramatically the frontier of tort recoveries.

There is no need for the Court to create this new tort cause of action against materialmen and subcontractors. Homeowners already have adequate opportunity and incentive to secure the remedies that will make them financially whole should structural trouble occur. Homeowners can protect themselves with insurance, with bonds, and through contract with their builder, general contractor, architect, and engineer. Homeowners already have the right to sue the party or parties with whom they are in privity in order to obtain complete restitution of value, or to repair and replace their residences. They have attorneys who can counsel them on opportunities for contractual protections. These points are discussed more fully in the paragraphs that follow.

<sup>20/</sup> Pet. brief at 13.

#### (b) Status of the law.

Two decisions of the Court have recently made clear that the "economic loss" rule constitutes an integral part of the law of Florida. Florida Power & Light Co. v. Westinghouse Electric Corp., 510 So.2d 899 (Fla. 1987); AFM Corporation v. Southern Bell Telephone and Telegraph Co., 515 So.2d 180 (Fla. 1987). These cases, with FP&L at the forefront, set to rest the notion that an obligation -- a duty of care -- exists in tort to protect against economic loss to property.

The critical feature of FP&L is its discussion -- with approval -- of the United States Supreme Court's decision in East River Steamship Corp. v. TransAmerica Delaval, Inc., 476 U.S. 858 (1986), and of three decisions of the district courts which had applied the economic loss rule to the satisfaction of the Court. See GAF Corp. v. Zack Co., 445 So.2d 350 (Fla. 3d DCA), rev. denied, 453 So.2d 45 (Fla. 1984); Cedars of Lebanon Hospital v. European X-ray Distributors, 444 So.2d 1068 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984); Monsanto Agricultural Products Co. v. Edenfield, 426 So.2d 574 (1st DCA 1982). Those cases (and therefore FP&L and AFM) put to rest petitioners' assertion that a tort law duty in negligence should be imposed on a manufacturer to produce goods which meet the economic expectations of purchasers, or that strict products liability should be extended to homeowner cases even where there are no personal injuries or damage to other property.

The Court recognized in FP&L that the questions of what duty is owed, and to whom, form the fundamental parameters of analytical focus differentiating contract and tort.

FP&L was recognized with approval as well in Aetna Life & Casualty Co. v. Therm-O-Disc, Inc., 511 So.2d 992 (Fla. 1987). As the controlling precedent in Florida, FP&L has been followed faithfully by the district courts of appeal.

This case contains a scholarly discussion of the distinctive and distinguishable purposes of tort and contract law, a division which petitioners seek to blur and obfuscate in their presentation to the Court. (444 So.2d at 1070-71).

The tort duty of care imposes responsibility on a manufacturer for distributing safe products which do not cause physical injury to persons or to other property. A divergent impulse directs contract duty. The underpinning of the economic loss rule is explained in *FP&L* by express reference to Justice Traynor's now-famous formulation in *Seely v. White Motor Co.*, 403 P.2d 145, 151 (1965), that a

duty of care . . . is particularly unsuited to the vagaries of individual purchasers' product expectations. As important, under the minority view, a manufacturer faced with this kind of liability exposure must raise prices on every contract to cover the enhanced risk. Clearly, product value and quality is covered by express and implied warranties, and warranty law should control a claim for purely economic losses.

510 So.2d at 901. The protection of purchaser expectations, related to the quality and fitness of the product for the purpose for which it is intended, is definable by warranty because the parties have the opportunity for a meeting of the minds in framing their agreement.

It is regrettable that the label "economic loss" has been adopted, as it tends to distort the true picture of what is discussed in FP&L and other cases. There is no magic to that label. The phrase is itself somewhat ambiguous, since economic losses come in all forms. To the degree that labels are useful shorthand, the economic loss rule could more appropriately be identified as the "contractual expectation" doctrine. In that way, judges and lawyers confronted with only the label, and unfamiliar with the rich history of the doctrine, would be instantly aware that it springs from contract law duty, designed to redress a purchaser's quality expectations.

At times, economic loss in the form of lost wages or business profits will follow on the heels of personal injury, too.

The law of Florida has long been that a legal duty in tort does not exist to protect another's property from economic deprivation alone. FP&L, 510 So.2d at 902. Economic injury to property has been treated, at common law in Florida and most everywhere else, within the sphere of contract law which orbits around implied and expressed warranty, including the statutory imposition of privity-based warranties through operation of the Uniform Commercial Code.

The lengthy legacy of the economic loss rule in Florida contradicts the revisionist history set forth in the petitioners' and the various amici briefs. Those briefs endeavor to sneak petitioners through the door shut by the court in FP&L and AFM, carrying piggyback various commercial and governmental interests, by urging that the Court's articulation of the economic loss rule did not change the holdings or reasoning of a handful of previous district court decisions. Neither FP&L nor AFM support that attempt to preserve prior contradictory decisions, however.

In FP&L, the Court explained that the absence of duty in tort in purchase and sale transactions has roots long preexisting its recharacterization as the "economic loss" rule. The Court in no way recognized, let alone sanctified, the few district court decisions which had strayed from the foundations of a contractual expectation doctrine and had allowed a tort recovery for mere disappointment as to the quality of the product bargained for. There is no mention in FP&L or in AFM, let alone a preservation of any district court decision,

Petitioners' greatest reliance is placed on these pre-FP&L decision: Simmons v. Owens, 363 So.2d 142 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978); Navajo Circle, Inc. v. Development Concepts Corp., 373 So.2d 689 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979); Parliament Towers Condominium v. Parliament House Realty, Inc., 377 So.2d 976 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979); Adobe Building Centers, Inc. v. Reynolds, 403 So.2d 1033 (Fla. 4th DCA), rev. dism'd, 411 So.2d 380 (Fla. 1981); Drexel Properties, Inc. v. Bay Colony Club Condominium, Inc., 406 So.2d 515 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981). Other than Adobe, each of these cases involved a builder or developer with ultimate authority over the nature of the housing project and the materials utilized.

which contravenes the preexisting principle which FP&L and AFM for the first time labeled in Florida as the "economic loss rule."

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